http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trgeo.2016.03.003

Transportation Geotechnics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/trgeo

Engineering Advance

A review of sustainable approaches in transport infrastructure geotechnics $\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \, \ensuremath{\smu}}{}$

A. Gomes Correia^{a,*}, M.G. Winter^{b,c}, A.J. Puppala^d

^a ISISE, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal

^b Transport Research Laboratory (TRL), Edinburgh, United Kingdom

^c University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth, United Kingdom

^d University of Texas at Arlington, TX, USA

ABSTRACT

Transportation geotechnics associated with constructing and maintaining properly functioning transportation infrastructure is a very resource intensive activity. Large amounts of materials and natural resources are required, consuming proportionately large amounts of energy and fuel. Thus, the implementation of the principles of sustainability is important to reduce energy consumption, carbon footprint, greenhouse gas emissions, and to increase material reuse/recycling, for example. This paper focusses on some issues and activities relevant to sustainable earthwork construction aimed at minimising the use of energy and the production of CO_2 while improving the in-situ ground to enable its use as a foundation layers. The use of recycled materials is discussed, including steel slag and tyre bales, alongside a conceptual framework for evaluating the utility of applications for recycled materials in transportation infrastructure.

© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Keywords: Sustainable Reuse Recycle Earthworks Aggregates Ground improvement

Contents

Introduction.	. 21
Ground improvement	. 22
Sustainable earthworks	. 22
Reuse of natural geomaterials	. 22
Reuse of recycled aggregates	. 23
CO ₂ emissions in earthworks operations	. 24
Optimisation of earthwork tasks	. 24
Recycled alternative materials, foundation reuse, rehabilitation and maintenance	. 24
Summary and conclusions	. 26
Acknowledgements	. 27
References	. 27

Introduction

* This is an Engineering Advance paper.

* Corresponding author.

Transport infrastructure consists of facilities such as roads, highways, bridges, airports, railways, waterways,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trgeo.2016.03.003

2214-3912/© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

canals and terminals, that place heavy demands on material resources, and is undergoing a market transformation in terms of the planning, design, construction, maintenance and exploitation of more sustainable structures. This infrastructure has an effect on the earth's resources and environment but also changes the land use pattern that has persisted for centuries and affects the societal values of a community [1]. Thus, geotechnical aspects and related activities are of primary importance from the earliest planning and design stages of an infrastructure project in achieving overall sustainable development in construction projects to: (1) meet basic human needs; (2) use resources effectively; and (3) preserve/restore the surrounding ecosystems [2]. This means that the main contribution of geotechnical engineers in achieving sustainability at a project level lies in efforts to utilise limited resources and explore ways of reducing processes that result in adverse impacts on sustainability. A few such areas are energy efficiency of the materials and methods used; potential reuse, recycling and re-engineering of materials and wastes; carbon footprint analyses; and the control of air, water and soil pollution [3]. A brief overview of geotechnical examples covering some of these areas are addressed in this paper. This includes sustainable ground improvement methods, earthworks constructed by minimising the use of energy and the production of CO₂, and the use of recycled alternative materials, foundation reuse, and rehabilitation and maintenance without the consumption of large amounts of primary natural geomaterials.

Ground improvement

Improving or modifying ground conditions to suit the engineering needs of construction projects has been practiced for decades. This practice often results in cost savings and other tangible benefits for both the project and the owner. Today, there are several ground improvement methods encompassing shallow, medium and deep soil treatments and involving drainage, reinforcement and soil improvement techniques available for geotechnical engineers to choose from, contingent to construction project needs. This practice has become such an important toolkit in the armoury of the geotechnical engineer that the Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers in the UK now devotes an entire journal, Ground Improvement, to the subject (http://www.icevirtuallibrary.com/content/serial/grim); other related practices are more specifically targeted at transportation geotechnics [4–6]. The selection of a ground improvement method for a particular project is usually made in deference to the project cost and timelines. Nowadays, this decision is also made from the sustainability standpoint as well. Engineers can select two or three ground improvement alternatives for a given project and then perform a comprehensive analyses of the carbon footprint, life cycle cost and energy consumption of each of the methods and then determine the one that proves to be the most sustainable [7].

Sustainable earthworks

Reuse of natural geomaterials

Earthworks seek to reuse and incorporate as much as possible of the geomaterial already existing on the construction site as is practicable [8]. This will avoid the disposal of such materials and save on the consumption of natural resources, which include high quality and other quarried materials, as well as minimising the demand for land and transport. Although not explored in detail in this paper, issues surrounding the acceptability of natural earthworks materials form an important part of the earthworks planning and implementation process and their correct application can have a fundamental effect on achieving sustainable earthworks construction. Similarly, where natural earthworks materials (including glacially deposited materials) incorporate large particle sizes (soilrock fill mixtures), account must be made of differences between the limited particle size ranges of the samples tested at the planning (ground investigation) and construction stages and the materials that are actually placed [9– 11]. Failure to do so can lead to failure of the earthworks process and significant additional costs and energy consumption.

Nevertheless, the first step in determining whether a material can be used is to evaluate whether the excavated geomaterial meets the specification(s) for the specific application. However, if it does not meet the specifications, mechanical and chemical treatments may be considered to render the material suitable. Amongst chemical treatments, lime is commonly used in many countries to allow the reuse of very wet or soft fine soils in the construction of embankments, road foundation capping layers, and other applications [6,8,12–15]. An immediate improvement in the soil properties is expected and the treatment increases workability and assists compaction during earthworks. This technique has been common practice in Europe for several decades but the long term effects of lime treated soils have not been generally taken into account in design. Even mixing rather small amounts of lime with soils induces pozzolanic reactions that may continue over a period of years, resulting in a continuous increase of strength and stiffness [16,17]. The results presented in Flores et al. [16,17] show that for a silty soil treated with 3% guicklime only four days after construction (and thus four days of curing) the slope factor of safety increased from 1.5 for the untreated soil to 2.5 for the treated soil. This evolution continued with time and values of the factor of safety close to 4 and 10 were reached after 3 months and one year (in constant humidity and temperature conditions, 20 °C), respectively. Neglecting this long-term development resulting from pozzolanic reactions between lime, water, and the silica and alumina that exist in the clayey particles, has a direct impact on the costs of the earthworks, for example, as slope stability, erosion, bearing capacity will be underestimated. Although these reactions and their products are now well established, their influence on the evolution of the geomechanical properties of the treated soil has, until recently, been relatively unexplored. As a

consequence, these effects are generally either not taken into account in design or the effects taken into account are at a much lower level that will be experienced in reality. However, Pan exploration of the causes of stabilized subgrade failures and showed that information on both the clay mineralogy and durability, or from long-term performance laboratory studies is needed to design an effective stabilization method for given subgrade conditions [18]. They noted that plasticity soils with varying amounts of Montmorillonite can be effectively stabilized with lime products. However, for soils with high plasticity, it may be necessary to increase the percentage of the chemical additive in order to obtain sustained performance over a longer time period. Similar observations may be made for cement treated soils. Overall, it is strongly recommended that laboratory mix design tests be performed to aid the selection of appropriate stabilizer types and the associated amount, despite the use of some predictive models based on data-mining techniques [19]. In addition, performance-based tests to determine durability are recommended [4,20,21]. From a sustainability point of view, the best stabilization treatments will be those that have the smallest carbon footprint and the use of byproducts such as ashes, guarry waste fines, guarry dust and slags, is often recommended along with lime or cement or other additives, which are responsible for alkali activation [22–25]. Ashes and fines typically contain large amounts of oxides including silicon dioxide and they contribute to pozzolanic activity in the soil treatments. As a result, strength and stiffness improvements will be recorded in these treated soils.

An example of the sustainable reuse of natural soil is the Integrated Pipeline (IPL) project, which involves a large diameter pipeline construction that is aimed at bringing additional water supplies to the Dallas/Fort Worth metroplex. A research study was undertaken to examine the potential chemical treatment of in-situ excavated soil material that can be reused as either bedding, or zone or backfill materials for supporting a large diameter pipeline. Based on the comprehensive laboratory and field implementation studies, the soils along the pipeline alignment are identified for potential reuse as backfill, bedding and zone materials after chemical amendment studies [7]. Cost and potential environmental benefits, as well as emissions reductions of using in-situ native treated material versus imported aggregate and select fill materials, are described in Fig. 1. It can be observed from the figure that the higher the overlap among the social, economic and the environmental impacts, the more sustainable a given project is going to be. Research works such as these would help agencies to develop sustainable ground improvement solutions for the infrastructure construction projects.

Qualitatively, the initial additional costs of lime or cement treatment of soils can be counterbalanced by other advantages related to the durability of the earthworks, which can be quantitatively demonstrated by a proper life-cycle and risk analysis [26].

Reuse of recycled aggregates

A conceptual framework for the understanding of recycled aggregate applications was developed [27] and was structured in terms of the environmental and economic utility (or value) of the application, and the utility relative to the original application. In the determination of utility, the factors considered included those related to production (energy consumption, financial cost, amount of pollution and waste generated) and those related to the market value of the product and the 'renewability' of the primary resource. Typically, three levels of applications are considered: low utility, intermediate utility and high utility. High utility and intermediate utility are examined in section



Fig. 1. Soil reuse effects on various sustainability factors (from [7]).

"Recycled alternative materials, foundation reuse, rehabilitation and maintenance", since applications are more relevant in structural elements. The *low utility* applications for recycled aggregates are typically based upon their use as general fill. A study of the use of recycled aggregates in Scotland [28] found that around 87% of spent oil shale, 100% of colliery spoil and 28% of PFA (pulverised fuel ash or fly ash) were recycled to low utility applications, predominantly as general fill. This is despite the fact that each material has been shown to be suitable for higher utility applications [29–31].

CO₂ emissions in earthworks operations

Recently, new environmental concerns regarding earthwork construction have emerged. Such concerns range widely from the water economy through carbon dioxide emissions to waste control in the construction phases. These concerns go beyond the usually implemented environmental rules that relate to ecology and nature conservation or regard for the preservation and/or enhancement of the landscape and townscape.

Most of these construction concerns have been taken into consideration during the construction of and preparation for the London 2012 Olympic Games (presented here as an example), including [32]:

- Carbon (to minimise the carbon emissions associated with the construction of the Olympic Park and venues).
- (2) Water (to optimise the opportunities for efficient water use, reuse and recycling).
- (3) Waste (to optimise the reduction of waste through design, and to maximise the reuse and recycling of material arising during demolition, remediation and construction).
- (4) Materials (to identify, source, and use environmentally and socially responsible materials).
- (5) Biodiversity and ecology (to protect and enhance the biodiversity and ecology of the Lower Lea Valley, and other venue locations).
- (6) Land, water, noise, air (to optimise positive, and minimise adverse, impacts on land, water, noise, and air quality).

Carbon emissions and air quality are of direct relevance to earthworks tasks. In fact, as noted within the Environmental Statement, the key emission to air is the generation of dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities.

Emissions from vehicles associated with construction sites can significantly add to levels of local air pollution, so it is important that the best practical means of reducing vehicle emissions are adopted. As such, several mitigation measures can be taken in order to minimise air quality impacts.

Optimisation of earthwork tasks

Earthworks involve sequential tasks such as excavation, transportation, spreading and compaction that are strongly based on heavy mechanical equipment and repetitive processes, thus becoming as economically (and energy) demanding as they are time-consuming. Given the percentage balance of costs and duration of earthworks in infrastructure construction projects (30-50%), the optimal usage of every resource in these tasks is paramount. The characteristics of earthworks construction mean that, it can be viewed as a production line process based on resources (mechanical equipment) and a series of sequential, but interdependent, tasks; the process thus has the potential to be optimised [8,33-35]. With the use of soft computing techniques, such as evolutionary computation (i.e. genetic algorithm), it was possible to develop an integrated optimisation system which was applied to a case study [36]. The available data include the daily allocation of earthworks equipment throughout a road construction site (including information on available equipment), material volumes and types of excavation and compaction fronts, and the distances between fronts. By modelling and optimising a specific number of phases, results indicated that it would be possible to reduce execution times adopted in a conventional design for some of the construction phases by between 20% and 50% of their original duration, without increasing costs. In fact, if this system was to be applied to this construction project, a high impact could be achieved, with an estimated reduction of around 50-70% of both cost and duration, thus addressing some of the principles of sustainability.

Recycled alternative materials, foundation reuse, rehabilitation and maintenance

A major component of sustainability-related applications in transportation geotechnics has been focused on alternative construction materials by using environmentally friendly materials, concentrating on the use of recycled waste materials. For example, the waste from endof-life asphalt and concrete pavements can be recycled into aggregate or pulverized and then stabilized into full or partial depth reclamation bases with cement or other additive as hydraulic binders [37,38]. The use of old pavements as stabilized bases not only reduces landfill costs, but also reduces the overall project carbon footprint as the requirement for conventional quarried natural aggregates is reduced. Additionally, the costs incurred in building transportation infrastructure can be in many cases substantially reduced when alternative recycled or secondary materials are used in construction works.

In a research study referred in [38,39], two types of recycled materials, namely reclaimed asphalt pavement and cement-stabilized quarry fines, were successfully used as pavement base materials for a highway extension project in Arlington, Texas, USA. Analysis of results obtained from field monitoring studies demonstrates that these secondary materials can be effective as a sustainable alternative to conventional pavement bases and hence this reuse application reduced the use of conventional and natural aggregates, but also reduced the overall costs of the infrastructure project.

Winter [29,30] also refers to *intermediate utility* applications for the use of spent oil shale and burnt colliery spoil in road foundation construction as capping layer and subbase materials. Reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP), can also be used for the construction of capping layer and subbase and experience indicates that they perform at least as well as, and often better than, the standard crushed rock control material [40]. In particular, construction of embankments containing bituminous materials such as RAP, RPM (recycled pavement material), or RAS (recycled asphalt shingle) is recommended to be undertaken during summer to induce thermal preloading and reduce longterm settlement.

High utility applications represent the peak of the range of environmental and economic utility that can be derived from recycled aggregates. Examples include the use of construction and demolition waste (such as crushed concrete) in a hydraulically stabilised cracked-and-seated roadbase construction [28,41,42] and other studies have demonstrated the effect of brick waste on the properties of recycled concrete aggregate [43].

The concept of relative utility was a key component of the conceptual framework [27]. Where aggregates are recycled from an existing use (as opposed to industrial wastes and by-products that have no original use) it is possible to make a judgement on the utility of the secondary compared to the primary application. Terms were thus adopted to provide a framework for such judgements, as follows:

- *Down-cycling*: recycling in which the secondary application has a lower utility than the primary (e.g. RAP recycled as general fill).
- *Level-cycling*: recycling in which the secondary application has the same or similar utility as the primary (e.g. RAP recycled in bituminous pavement layers).
- *Up-cycling*: recycling in which the secondary application has a higher utility than the primary (e.g. pavement foundation layer recycled in bituminous pavement layers).

In Scotland in the early part of this century [28] that the bulk of aggregate recycling was carried out as down-cycling and that up-cycling was comparatively rare and highly specialised. For example, crushed concrete and RAP were most often recycled as general fill. The most successful mix of recycling in a given waste stream was considered likely to be a mix of predominantly downcycling and level-cycling. The recycling of certain types of plastic bottles as fleece clothing is a prime example of up-cycling, albeit unrelated to aggregates.

The framework was developed for recycled aggregates but is equally applicable to other categories of material. Indeed, the concept of relative utility, in particular, has gained common currency and is frequently used in arenas far beyond that for which it was originally and primarily intended. Utility is suitable for project level comparisons of recycled aggregate applications and also for strategic evaluations at a national level [28]; it is particularly helpful in articulating (and maximising) the value derived from the materials available. Relative utility, while more immediately accessible as a concept, is suitable for project level evaluations of recycled aggregate applications, but less so for strategic evaluations.

Other examples of sustainable use of recycled byproducts have been presented [44] concerning a case study of Portuguese inert steel aggregate for construction - ISAC [45,46] and tyre bales [47]. The authors illustrate how typically the respective introductions of these two materials (ISAC and tyre bales) to the construction market follow the sequential stages of Fig. 2 [43]. It should be stressed that the ISAC can have a high utility use for high speed railways and has been studied in an EU research project (LIFE GAIN-Slag layers in railway foundations, LIFE12 ENV/ ES/000638). Also, successful applications for tyre bales including as road foundations in both the USA (New York State) and the UK [48]. Other applications such as slope failure remediation, lightweight embankment fill, gravity retaining walls, drainage layers/paths, erosion control, landfill engineering, storm water management systems and rainwater soakaways, and environmental barriers have been described [49-51].

A more recent research topic that could have a great impact on the reuse of materials in the future by improving



Fig. 2. The development of business based on the production and sale of a new product based on reused, recycled or recovered waste materials (from [44]).

their performance is the incorporation of nanotechnology in the formulation of materials [52]. In fact the reinforcement of soil using short and discrete synthetic and natural fibres has long been used to improve various properties of soils such as tensile strength and stiffness, shear strength, postpeak strength loss, ductility, etc. Due to their high aspect ratio combined with excellent mechanical strength and stiffness, nano fibres can be advantageously used for soil reinforcement in a wide range of geotechnical applications.

Besides that, the use of conductive nano fibres (e.g. carbon nano fibre) may impart electrical conductivity and piezoresistivity to the reinforced soils. These properties can be used to automatically sense deformation and damage as it occurs to these structures [53,54]. Furthermore, reinforced embankments exhibit numerous advantages over conventional fills, especially along steep or unstable slopes and in seismic areas, as well as in layer reinforcements [9]. For fills, usually the reinforcement does not cover the entire area, unless spreading of an embankment is a particular issue, or the construction involves slender earth structures [9,55,56].

It should also be noted that recycled materials can be significantly improved if they are mixed with other byproducts that exhibit cementitious properties, such as self-cementing fly ash (or PFA) (ASTM, 2011, D7762 Standard Practice for Design of Stabilization of Soil and Soil-Like Materials with Self-Cementing Fly Ash) or waste incineration ash, which are responsible for alkali activation [24]; other combinations are with mine wastes [57].

The routine use of geosynthetics situated between individual compacted layers in reinforced road embankments and railroad tracks is very well established and demonstrated as a sustainable solution [58–61]. Moreover, other more innovative solutions are also available, including brick–fibre-concrete for example [62]. The principle of this system is simple, and utilises old bricks and concrete, which, after crushing and sorting into different fractions, create the base for the new material – concrete reinforced by short synthetic fibres.

It is well known that effective and timely maintenance can prolong the life of structures and thus minimise, and sometimes avoid, costly, and energy- and emissionsintensive, recycling and disposal operations. Consequently strategies should be configured so as to provide timely maintenance and preservation of the built environment. However, continuing maintenance and remediation are becoming major engineering constraints for infrastructure owners. Several trial remedial measures have been tested over the years, including stabilization technologies for embankment foundations and/or of the embankment. They can be categorised as follows:

- reducing disturbing forces (e.g. geogrids, piles, retaining walls, soil pinning, track support),
- increasing soil strength (e.g. stabilization, geomats), and
- controlling water (drainage), mechanical support to resist deformation (e.g. interception drainage, geogrids).

Hybrid solutions can involve installing a row of concrete piles at the mid-slope to transfer load from the sliding surface soil into the underlying stable ground [63]. Many of these technologies can also be applied to accommodate higher loads, geometry changes, and extreme environment conditions, like floods and earthquakes. Special attention should be paid to geometry changes (e.g. widening). In these cases it is necessary to estimate the influence of the new structure on the existing one, which is often difficult to assess, especially for water sensitive materials. For old and new road and rail embankments the main responsibility for the infrastructure owner is how to know when maintenance works should be carried out in order to provide the maximum benefit at the minimum cost and asset management systems can be an invaluable tool for the effective resolution of this problem.

Nevertheless, whatever the problem is, the principles of sustainability should always be applied, ensuring that design and construction options are compared and evaluated in terms of energy efficiency, carbon emissions, costs and societal benefits for the full design life of the structure.

Summary and conclusions

Geotechnical planning, design, construction and rehabilitation in the early phases of an infrastructure project can significantly contribute to the overall sustainability of that particular development by making appropriate choices related to several aspects of the project. These choices include strategies, materials and technologies that can be summarised as follows:

- Ground improvement: several methods are available, but decisions should be supported by comprehensive analyses of the carbon footprint, life cycle and cost studies, and energy consumption analyses of each of the candidate methods in order to determine the one that proves to be the most sustainable. Such selection and implementation can lead to higher sustainability ratings.
- Earthworks: the main issues include the reduction of CO₂ emissions, waste control by reuse and the incorporation of the maximum amount of the excavated natural geomaterials as well as taking advantage of the long-term behaviour of treated soils. Other important aspects include, the optimisation of earthworks tasks by maximising productivity and minimising costs, as well as minimising energy consumption and emissions generated during extraction, processing, and transportation.
- Recycling and rehabilitation: promoting recycled material reuse through performance tests, including durability tests; and by taking advantage of engineering and environmental aspects that contribute to reduced greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption, and to long-term economic benefits as well as conferring societal advantages. This is essential to facilitate the sustainable use of new materials in transportation infrastructure under various climatic and traffic (load and speed) conditions. The final goal is a holistic design approach addressing environmental, societal, economic, and resilience issues, through mechanistic approaches, life cycle analysis, as well as risk analysis. The use of

recycled and secondary materials should be promoted at the highest utility possible, albeit that maximum consumption of such materials will most likely require a mix of low, intermediate and high utility applications.

• Maintenance: if undertaken in a timely manner the service and structural life will be extended and resilience against the effects of extreme events for critical infrastructure will be enhanced.

In summary, this review of the application of geotechnical engineering in transportation infrastructure works highlights the transformation that has taken place in the industry in the last two decades from a traditional, low technology base to a much more sophisticated higher technology industry that fully takes account of sustainability issues. Sustainability can be improved by reducing energy consumption, greenhouse gas emissions, natural resource consumption, by increasing service life and by implementing more cost-effective solutions. However, it is not always easy to implement non-traditional practices, and it requires the dedication and perseverance of the entire project team including designers, builders and owners to select sustainable systems. Such practices will lead to the better use of sustainable systems in transportation infrastructure. However, in order to gain widespread acceptance, specifications must be developed to enable such techniques to be used on a regular basis.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank their colleagues Ivan Vaníček and Jean-Pierre Magnan for supplying supporting documents that were very useful during the preparation of this paper.

References

- Basu D, Misra A, Puppala A.J: Sustainability and geotechnical engineering: perspectives and review. Can Geotech J 2014, 52 (1):96–113.
- [2] TechBrief. Pavement Sustainability. FHWA-HIF-14-012; Oct 2014.
- [3] Fragaszy RJ, Santamarina JC, Amekudzi A, Assimaki D, Bachus R, Burns SE, Cha M, Cho GC, Cortes DD, Dai S, Espinoza DN, Garrow L, Huang H, Jang J, Jung JW, Kim S, Kurtis K, Lee C, Pasten C, Phadnis H, Rix G, Shin HS, Torres MC, Tsouris C: Sustainable development and energy geotechnology – Potential roles for geotechnical engineering, KSCE J Civil Eng 2011, 15(4):611–621.
- [4] Amadi AA: Enhancing durability of quarry fines modified black cotton soil subgrade with cement kiln dust stabilization. Transp Geotech 2014, 1(1):55–61.
- [5] Pourakbara S, Asadib A, Huata BBK, Fasihnikoutalaba MH: Stabilization of clayey soil using ultrafine palm oil fuel ash (POFA) and cement. Transp Geotech June 2015, 3:24–35.
- [6] Selvi P: Fatigue and rutting strain analysis on lime stabilized subgrades to develop a pavement design chart. Transp Geotech 2015, 2:86–98.
- [7] Chittoori BS, Puppala AJ, Reddy RK, Marshall D: Sustainable reutilization of excavated trench material. ASCE GeoCongress, 2012, Oakland, California, March 2012, pp. 4280–4289.
- [8] Gomes Correia A, Magnan J-P: Trends and challenges in earthworks for transportation infrastructures. Adv Transp Geotechs 2 (Eds: Miura S, Ishikawa T, Yoshida N, Hisari Y, Abe N); 2012, p. 1–12. London, UK: CRC Press.
- [9] Gomes Correia A, Brandl H, Magnan J-P: Earth and rockfill embankments for roads and railways: what was learned and where to go. *Geotechnics of Roads and Railways* (Eds: Brandl H, Adam D), Vol. 1, Wien: Österreichischer Ingenieur- und Architeken-Verein; 2014. p. 1–28.

- [10] Winter MG: The effect of large particles on the applicability of compaction tests. Geotechnics of Roads and Railways (Eds: Brandl H, Adam D), vol. 1, Wien: Österreichischer Ingenieur- und Architeken-Vereinl; 2014. p. 183–188.
- [11] Winter MG: The specification and use of soils with large particles in earthworks. Geotechnics of Roads and Railways. (Eds: Brandl H, Adam D), vol. 1, Wien: Österreichischer Ingenieur- und Architeken-Verein; 2014. p. 213–218.
- [12] Beetham P, Dijkstra T, Dixon N, Fleming P, Hutchison R, Bateman J: Lime stabilisation for earthworks: a UK perspective. Proceedings, Institution of Civil Engineers (Ground Improvement) 2015, 168 (2):81–95.
- [13] Celauro B, Bevilacqua A, Bosco DL, Celauro C: Design procedures for soil-lime stabilization for road and railway embankments. Part 1 – review of design methods. Procedia-Social Behav Sci 2012, 53:754–763.
- [14] Consoli NC, Prietto PDM, da Silva Lopes L, Winter D: Control factors for the long term compressive strength of lime treated sandy clay soil. Transp Geotech 2014, 1(3):129–136.
- [15] Kalantari B, Prasad A: A study of the effect of various curing techniques on the strength of stabilized peat. Transp Geotech 2014, 1(3):119–128.
- [16] Flores RDV, Di Emidio G, Van Impe WF: Small-strain shear modulus and strength increase of cement treated clay. ASTM GTJ 2010, 33(1):62-71.
- [17] Verbrugge JC, De Bel R, Gomes Correia A, Duvigneaud PH, Herrier G: Strength hand micro observations on a lime treated silty soil, ASCE Geotechnical Special Publication No. 223; 2011.
- [18] Pedarla A, Chittoori SB, Puppala AJ: Influence of mineralogy and plasticity index on the stabilization effectiveness of expansive clays. J Transp Res Board. National Academy of Science, Transportation Research Board, No. 2212, 91-99; 2011.
- [19] Tinoco J, Gomes Correia A, Cortez P: Update of data mining models for the prediction of laboratory soil-cement mechanical properties. Proc. Information Technology in Geo-Engineering, (Eds. Toll DG, Zhu H, Osman A), IOS Press 2014, p. 206–212.
- [20] Silva J, Azenha M, Gomes Correia A, Ferreira C: Continuous stiffness assessment of cement-stabilised soils from early age. Géotechnique 2013, 63(16):1419–1432.
- [21] Lekha BM, Goutham S, Shankar AUR: Evaluation of lateritic soil stabilized with Arecanut coir for low volume pavements. Transp Geotech 2015, 2:20–29.
- [22] MIRO. Sustainable aggregates: theme 2 sustainable provision of aggregates. Sustainable utilisation of quarry by-products. MIRO-ALSF dissemination project 2007/8. <http://www.sustainableaggregates. com/library/docs/mist/10065_t2c_suqbp.pdf>; 2008 [Access date: November 2015].
- [23] Soosan T, Sridharan A, Jose B, Abraham B, Utilization of Quarry Dust to Improve the Geotechnical Properties of Soils in Highway Construction. Geotech Test J 2005, 28(4):1–10.
- [24] Sargent P, Hughes P, Rouainia M, Glendinning S: Soil stabilisation using sustainable industrial by-product binders and Alkali activation. GeoCongress 2012, 948–957.
- [25] Puppala AJ, Pillappa G, Vasudevan D, Hoyos LR: Field studies on five different stabilized subgrades for enhancing the performance of low volume pavements. J. Transp. Res. Board, National Academy of Science, Transportation Research Board, TRR, Low Volume Roads Conference, Austin, Texas, June 2007.
- [26] Clayton CRI: Managing geotechnical risk: time for change? Proc Civil Eng Geotech Eng 2000, 149:3–11.
- [27] Winter MG: A conceptual framework for the recycling of aggregates and other wastes. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers (Municipal Engineer) 2002, 151(3):177–187.
- [28] Winter MG, Henderson C: Estimates of the quantities of recycled aggregates in Scotland. Eng Geol 2003, 70:205–215.
- [29] Winter MG: Spent oil shale use in earthwork construction. Eng Geol 2001, 60:285–294.
- [30] Winter MG: Using colliery spoil for road building. Mining Quarrying Recycling 2001, 30(2):37–40, 42.
- [31] Winter MG, Clarke BG: Improved use of pulverised fuel ash as general fill. Proceedings, Institution of Civil Engineers (Geotechnical Engineering) 2002, 155(2):133–141.
- [32] Olympic Delivery Authority (ODA). Sustainable Development Strategy. London, UK; 2007.
- [33] Moselhi O, Alshibani A: Optimization of earthmoving operations in heavy civil engineering projects. J Constr Eng Manage 2009, 135 (10):948–954.
- [34] Parente M, Gomes Correia A, Cortez P: Modern optimization in earthwork construction. Geotechnical Engineering for Infrastructure

and Development (Eds: Winter MG, Smith DM, Edlred PJL, Toll DG), vol. 1 (Infrastructure). London: ICE Publishing; 2015. p. 343–348.

- [35] Parente M, Cortez P, Gomes Correia A: An evolutionary multiobjective optimization system for earthworks. Exp Syst Appl 2015, 42(19):6674–6685.
- [36] Parente M, Cortez P, Gomes Correia A: Evolutionary multi-criterion optimization. Lecture Notes Comput Sci 2015, 9019:514–528.
- [37] Puppala AJ, Saride S, Potturi A, Hoyos LR: Resilient behavior of cement-fiber treated reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) Aggregates as Bases. Proceedings of the International Foundation Congress and Equipment Expo, ASCE, 2009, GSP 187; 2009. p. 433– 440.
- [38] Puppala AJ, Saride S, Williammee R: Sufstainable reuse of limestone quarry fines and RAP in pavement base/subbase layers. J Mater ASCE 2012, 24(4):418–429.
- [39] Saride S, Puppala A J, Williammee R: Assessments of recycled/ secondary materials in pavement. Ground Improve J, Thomas Telford: GI; 2010. 163(GI1):3-12.
- [40] Anon: Specification for highway works (MCHW 1). Manual of contract documents for highway works, vol. 1. http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/mchw/vol1/; 2015.
- [41] Ghazireh N, Robinson HL: The Echline experimental road construction project: environmental assessment. Geoenvironmental Engineering: Geoenvironmental Impact Management, London: Thomas Telford; 2001. p. 519–524.
- [42] Robinson HL, Ghazireh N, Jeffrey-Wright H: The Echline road construction pro-ject using sustainable design and construction techniques. Geoenvironmental Engineering: Geoenvironmental Impact Management. Thomas Telford: London; 2001. p. 543–549.
- [43] Diagne M, Tinjum J-M, Nokkaew K: The effects of recycled clay brick content on the engineering properties, weathering durability, and resilient modulus of recycled concrete aggregate, *Transp Geotech* 2015, 3:15–23.
- [44] Winter MG, Gomes Correia A: The use and application of two contrasting non-traditional embankment and pavement foundation materials. ASCE-GSP 2016, p. 12.
- [45] Gomes Correia A, Roque A, Reis Ferreira S, Fortunato E: Case study to promote the use of industrial by products: The relevance of performance tests. J ASTM Int (JAI). American Institute of Physics 2012, 9(2):18.
- [46] Grégoire C, Gomes Correia A, De Bel R, Bernard D: Mechanical behavior of natural and recycled granular materials for roads. ASTM, J Test Eval 2011, 39(5):11.
- [47] Winter MG: Construction on soft ground using lightweight tyre bales. Innovative and Sustainable Use of Geomaterials and Geosystems (Eds: Wu JY, Chao S-J, Dai K, Yang S-R). ASCE Geotechnical Special Publication No. 245. Reston, VA: American Society of Civil Engineers; 2014. p. 1–8.
- [48] Winter MG, Reid JM, Griffiths PIJ: Tyre bales in construction: Case ttudies. TRL PPR 045. Wokingham: Transport Research laboratory; 2005.

- [49] Winter MG, Watts GRA, Simm JD: Tyre bale applications in geotechnical en-gineering. Proc. XIV European Conference on Soil Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering: Geotechnical Engineering in Urban Environments, vol. 3, Rotterdam: Millpress; 2007. p. 1579– 1585.
- [50] Winter MG, Williammee R, Prikryl W: The application of tyre bales to the repair of slope failures. Proc. Institution of Civil Engineers (Engineering Sustainability) 2009, 162(ES3):145–153.
- [51] Prikryl W, Williammee R, Winter MG: Slope Failure Repair using Tyre Bales at Interstate Highway 30, Tarrant County, Texas, USA. Quart J Eng Geol Hydrogeol 2005, 38(4):377–386.
- [52] Lundahl A, Fangueiro R, Soutinho F, Duarte F: Waste fibre reinforced gecocomposites. Mater Sci Forum 2010, 636–637:1415-1420.
- [53] Rana S, Zdraveva E, Pereira C, Fangueiro R, Gomes Correia A: Development of Hybrid Braided Composite Rods for Reinforcement and Health Monitoring of Structures. Scientific World J 2014, Article ID 170187, p. 9.
- [54] Fangueiro R, Rana S, Gomes Correia A: Braided composite rods: innovative fibrous materials for geotechnical applications. Geomech Geoeng 2013, 5(2):87–97.
- [55] Brandl H: Innovative methods and technologies in earthworks. Pavement and Railway Design and Construction. (Eds: Gomes Correia, A. & Loizos, A), Millpress: Rotterdam; 2004. p. 3–34.
- [56] Gomes Correia A, Brandl H (Eds): Geotechnics for Roads, Rail Tracks and Earth Structures, 289 pp. A. A. Balkema, Lisse, The Netherlands; 2001.
- [57] Oluwasola EA, Hainin MR, Aziz MMA: Evaluation of asphalt mixtures incorporating electric arc furnace steel slag and copper mine tailings for road construction. *Transp Geotech* 2015, 2:47–55.
- [58] Indraratna B, Nimbalkar S, Shrawan Rujikiatkamjorn C, Frontier technologies in design and construction for sustainable transport infrastructure. 2nd International Conference on Sustainable Built Environment; 2012. p. 1-14.
- [59] Indraratna B, Nimbalkar S, Rujikiatkamjorn C: From theory to practice in track geomechanics-Australian perspective for synthetic inclusions. *Transp Geotech* 2014, 1(4):171–187.
- [60] Hussaini SKK, Indraratna B, Vinod JS: Performance assessment of geogrid-reinforced railroad ballast during cyclic loading. Transp Geotech 2015, 2(1):99–107.
- [61] Yonezawa T, Yamazaki T, Tateyama M, Tatsuoka F: Design and construction of geosynthetic-reinforced soil structures for Hokkaido high-speed train line. *Transp Geotech* 2014, 1(1):3–20.
- [62] Vaníček I, Vaníček M: Modern earth structures of transport engineering view of sustainable. 11th Int. Conf. on Modern Building Materials, Structures and Techniques, MBMST. Procedia Eng 2013, 57:77–82.
- [63] Smethurst J, Powrie W: Monitoring and analysis of the bending behaviour of discrete piles used to stabilise a railway embankment. Géotechnique 2007, 57(8):663–677.